
CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO 
 

AIRPORT COMMISSION 
 

 

 

 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS for San Francisco 
International Airport  

 
RFP No. 50164.01 for Guest Services Training, Mystery 

Shopping, and Consultation Services 

Addendum 1 
 

 

Date issued:      Tuesday February, 12, 2019 

Pre-Proposal conference:   Tuesday, February 19, 2019, 10:00 a.m. 

Addendum 1:    Thursday, March 7, 2019 

Proposal due:           Tuesday, March 19, 2019, 3:00 p.m. 



RFP No. 50164.01 for Guest Services Training, Mystery Shopping, and Consultation Services 

Addendum 1 Page 1 of 13 March 7, 2019 

Addendum 1 is issued to respond to questions posed at the pre-proposal conference on February 19, 2019 
and questions received in writing by the submission deadline of February 25, 2019 at 10 a.m. Please review 
the terms of the RFP and the questions and responses below carefully. If there are any inconsistencies 
between the RFP and the responses to the questions below, the responses contained in this Addendum 1 
shall prevail.    

 
A. Questions and Responses:  
 

No. 
 

Ref. Question: Answer: 

1.  Can we add an appendix to 
include additional support 
materials and samples? 

No. See RFP section III.C. “Content” (at pp. 5-7), for 
the content required in the proposal, and the page limits. 
Additional material will not be considered  

 
2. Appendix 

C We are being asked to sign 
a form and include it in 
appendix C. However, 
under the submission 
requirements, there is no 
reference to including 
appendix C in our 
response. Where would 
you like us to include this 
form: Administrative Code 

Chapter 12X: Contractors 
in Certain States? Please 
clarify. 

The completed 12X form noted in Appendix C may be 
submitted on the required USB flash drive, as noted in 
the RFP, Section III-B. Format. 

3.  Based upon the training 
goal participation would 
you be open to consider 
more than one facilitator? 

No.  

4.  Can a formal audition 
process be considered for 
trainer selection? 

No.  

5.  Will the Airport provide 
the facility for training 
sessions for up to 100 
attendees?   

Yes, although typical class size is expected to be 25 to 
50 attendees. 

6.  How many employees are 
you targeting for 
participation to complete 
training in year 1, 2, and 3? 
If you do not have a target, 

Since classes are not mandatory, there is no specific 
target number, but we are open to recommendations. 
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are you open to 
recommendations? 

7.  For the communication 
campaign and for mystery 
shop distribution, is there a 
current list of email 
addresses to reach the 
concessions, security, and 
aviation support services? 
If not, can SFO provide 
this updated list? 

Yes. 

 

8.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

For accountability, to build 
manager relationship and 
to boost awareness of 
training opportunities and 
action planning would you 
be open to individual 
consultations vs group 
consulting? 

Yes.  

9. Page 3 On page 3 regarding the 
mystery shopping, bottom 
of page, 4th bullet reads, 
“Provide data analysis and 
appropriate pre-determined 
rewards for bi-annual 
Above and Beyond 
rewards and recognition 
program based on overall 
mystery shops scores” do 
we provide gift cards for 
rewards? If so, what 
denomination and would 
we bill back or is this to be 
included in our pricing? 

Yes, within our current program, a $100 gift card is 
issued to the individual who scores a perfect mystery 
shop score of 100. Based off of 5 categories, a glass 
plaque is displayed on 5 trophies with the name of the 
top company in each category, which is updated twice a 
year. The cost of gift cards or other rewards should be 
included in your contract pricing. 

10.  What is the total # of 
badged employees by 
category? Can you provide 
a list of all category groups 
that you plan to mystery 
shop and # of employees 
for each? 

There are approximately 1,700 aviation support services 
employees, 2,750 concession employees, and 1,400 
security employees for whom the Airport seeks mystery 
shopping services. 
 
 

11.  What is the frequency for 
mystery shop evaluations 
for each group/ quarter? 
Are you open to suggested 

Currently, each Airport concessionaire receives a 
mystery shopping visit twice quarterly, and going 
forward the Airport expects the successful proposer to 
conduct mystery shopping visits with each aviation 
services provider with at least the same minimum 
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frequency and volume of 
mystery shopping? 

frequency.  Regarding the Airport’s security services 
provider, the Airport expects a mystery shopping visit 
to occur at each security checkpoint with a frequency 
still to be determined. 

While proposers may make recommendations about the 
frequency and volume of mystery shopping visits, as 
stated in the RFP, proposers should base their fee 
proposal for this service on conducting 350 mystery 
shops per quarter over the three year term.  (RFP 
section II.4, “Scope of Work” at p. 4.)  

 
12.   Which hourly rate is 

applicable? Is it the MCO 
or QSP rate? 

The MCO would apply. 

13.   With Mystery Shopping, is 
it currently provided in a 
package with the training?  
Is it overlapping with ACI 
or is it separate? 

Yes, Mystery Shopping services are currently being 
provided under the same contract as guest services 
training. The services provided by ACI are under a 
separate contract. 

 
14.  Mystery shoppers are paid 

on work performed basis, 
how would that be 
calculated, how would that 
be monitored as far as 
MCO requirements? 

Proposers must decide for themselves whether it is 
legally appropriate to treat individuals performing 
mystery shopping services as independent contractors or 
employees, and may want to consult with their own 
legal counsel in making this determination.  The MCO 
applies only to “covered employees” as defined in SF 
Administrative Code Chapter 12P.    

SF Admin Code Chapter 12P 

 
15.  Please provide any insight 

on how similar this current 
RFP is to the previously 
issued RFP and why it was 
reissued? 

It is similar to RFP 50164.  However, proposers should 
be mindful that the reissued RFP does contain some 
changes to the minimum qualifications, submission 
requirements, and scope of work, and should base their 
submissions on the requirements of the reissued RFP.  

 
16.  What was the difference 

from the minimum 
qualifications from the last 
one pertaining to the 
modifications to have more 
proposals be responsive? 

For your convenience, Attachment A to this Addendum 
contains the list of minimum qualifications for RFP 
50164, which you may compare against the list of 
minimum qualifications for the current RFP. 

 

http://library.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll/California/administrative/chapter12pminimumcompensation?f=templates$fn=document-frame.htm$3.0$q=$x=
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17.  Is it possible to receive the 
Q&A provided for RFP 
50164 to determine if we 
need to ask those questions 
again?    

 A copy of the Q&A for RFP 50164 is provided as 
Attachment B to this Addendum. 

 

18.  Who is the firm that you 
have used over the last 
several years in regards to 
your existing customer 
service training and 
Mystery Shopping? 

Customer Service Experts, Inc. is the current 
incumbent. 

19.  What is the threshold for 
small LBE? If an LBE 
makes than less 5 Mil, they 
would clarify? 

Refer to the following link in response to this question: 
https://sfgov.org/cmd/sites/default/files/Certification.pdf 

 

20.  Is there a monitoring or 
quality process on how 
firms become certified as 
LBEs?   

Before becoming certified in a particular category, the 
Contract Monitoring Division (CMD) requires firms to 
submit proof (contracts w/specified scopes of work + 
proof of payment) that they have experience completing 
that work in that particular category. After becoming 
certified, any quality of work issues are handled 
between firms and/or the awarding department. 

21.  If there is a vendor who 
wants to add value and put 
a CBT component to their 
offering, is that 
acceptable?   

No.  The Airport will only evaluate and consider 
content relevant to the deliverables identified in the 
RFP’s Scope of Work.  See RFP, section II, “Scope of 
Work” at pp. 3-4.A  

22.  SSi currently provides 
SIDA and other safety 
program trainings to the 
Airport.  Is there a 
requirement to create a 
short synopsis of what 
could be found at the 
workshop or on the 
ongoing 15 trainings, 
would that  add value to 
the provider proposing? 

See RFP section III.C., “Content” (at pp. 5-7), for the 
content required in the proposal.  The Airport will only 
evaluate and consider content relevant to the 
deliverables identified in the RFP’s Scope of Work.  
See RFP, section II, “Scope of Work” at pp. 3-4.  
Proposals will be scored based on the selection criteria 
listed in the RFP (see RFP section IV.B., “Selection 
Criteria” at pp. 8-9)  

 

23.  Additional 
recommendations could be 
made but it will not be 
scored? 

If more than three references are provided, the proposer 
should indicate which three it wishes to be considered 
for scoring purposes.  No other references will be 
contacted unless the City is unable to reach one of the 
three initially indicated. 

  

https://sfgov.org/cmd/sites/default/files/Certification.pdf
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24.  Are you able to share the 
current contract amount? 

The current contract for guest services training and 
mystery shopping services is for an amount 
not-to-exceed $1,495,000.  The contract term is 5.5 
years and the contract will expire on June 30, 2019. 

 
25.  Can you provide an 

address to ship RFP 
responses that is not a P.O. 
Box? 

No, the Airport does not have a physical address and 
just uses the PO Box. 

26.  Who and what 
departments/organizations 
currently serve on the 
guest experience team?  

The Guest Experience team does not currently exist.  It 
will need to be created and implemented by the 
successful proposer with the assistance of the Airport. 

27.  How many entities 
throughout the airport do 
you envision being 
represented on the task 
force? 

The Guest Experience Task Force should have a 
minimum of 10 members.  See RFP section II.1. “Scope 
of Work.”. 

28.  How many participants 
would be included in the 
guest experience council? 
Who do you envision 
would participate on the 
council? 

 The Guest Experience Council should be comprised of 
6 to 8 Guest Experience professionals, drawn from the 
Airport’s Guest Experience department, 
concessionaires, guest service providers, as well as 
Airport area hotels. See RFP section II.6. 

 
29.  What social media 

platforms are currently 
being used? 

Currently, the Airport uses Instagram, Twitter and 
LinkedIn. 

30.  How and by whom is 
social media monitored? 

SFO social media is currently monitored by SFO 
Marketing and Guest Services departments. 

31.  Is it the contractor’s 
responsibility to post social 
media on behalf of the 
client, or is the contractor 
delivering the content to 
SFO to post? 

There are multiple ways to post social media on SFO 
accounts. The contractor will consult or coordinate with 
SFO Marketing on the best way to post social media. 
Dependent on which SFO account, the contractor may 
be responsible to post on behalf of SFO or they may be 
required to deliver the content to SFO to post.  
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32.  What groups are included 
in the aviation support 
services and security for 
the mystery shop 
evaluations? 

The “aviation support services” category includes 
contractors providing guest services at the Airport, such 
as wheelchair providers and porters.  The “security” 
category includes only one company Covenant 
Aviation, the TSA subcontractor at SFO, who provides 
security screening and mans security checkpoints. 

.  
33.  Can you please provide a 

list of job titles and 
number of employees that 
fall under the following 
two categories - security 
and aviation support 
services? 

The “aviation support services” category includes 
employees of contractors who provide guest services at 
the Airport, such as wheelchair escorts and porters.  The 
“security” category encompasses the employees of 
Covenant Aviation, the TSA subcontractor at SFO. 

34.  Are you open to 
recommendations for 
additional related services 
or innovation outside the 
scope of work? 

No.  The Airport will only evaluate and consider 
content relevant to the deliverables identified in the 
RFP’s Scope of Work.  See RFP, section II, “Scope of 
Work” at pp. 3-4. 

35.  What is considered prime 
level of work for an LBE 
subcontractor? 

An LBE subcontractor is not required to be assigned 
prime level work.  
 
For further information regarding the LBE 
subcontractor requirements, see section VI.N. of the 
RFP (“Local Business Enterprise Goals and Outreach”). 
 

36.  What part of this RFP do 
you see local business 
enterprises performing? Do 
you have specific 
tasks/scope that you see 
being handled by a local 
business enterprise? 

The Contract Monitoring Division (CMD) has approved 
the following certification category for LBE 
participation: Market Research PS052.  

 

37. Appendix 
G III.C.6 requires a Fee 

Proposal and references 
hourly rates, but are these 
the sum total required, or is 
a yearly or total project 
cost also required? 

Each item of the fee proposal should include the total 
not-to-exceed fee for that item for the three-year 
contract term. 

Hourly rates are requested in order to assist in the 
computation of fees for additional as-needed services, 
should they be required. 

Please refer to Appendix G – Fee Proposal 
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38. OCA 
posting 
website  

The RFP references 
various Appendices, such 
as F and G, but these are 
not included in the RFP. 
Would you please send 
these to me? 

The Appendices can be found as attachments on the 
OCA posting website: 
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCA_BID_ATTACHMENTS/FA55480.pdf_ 

http://mission.sfgov.org/OCABidPublication/BidDetail.aspx?K=13860 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://mission.sfgov.org/OCA_BID_ATTACHMENTS/FA55480.pdf_
http://mission.sfgov.org/OCABidPublication/BidDetail.aspx?K=13860
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     Attachment A 

         RFP 50164 – Minimum Qualifications  

 

Minimum Qualifications 

All proposers are required to meet the following minimum qualifications: 

1. Proposer must have a minimum aggregate of five (5) years of verifiable experience within the 
past ten (10) years facilitating customer service training at one (1) or more airports with a 
minimum of 10 million enplanements in 2017. 

2. Proposer must have a minimum of five (5) years of verifiable experience within the past ten(10) 
years in facilitating customer service sessions with a large group of employees (50-100+) drawn 
from multiple employers (e.g. the airport, airport tenants, and other employers doing business at 
the airport). 

3. Proposer must have developed and facilitated a customer service training curriculum, and must 
be able to verify it was used to train both airport employees, as well as employees of airport 
tenants and business permittees, in at least one (1) project within the past two (2) years. 

4. Proposer must have verifiable experience writing a computer-based learning script on the topic 
of customer service. Proposer must be able to verify that the script was approved and used by an 
airport with at least 10 million enplanements in 2017.  
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    Attachment B 

       RFP 50164 – Questions and Responses 

 
No. 
 

Ref. Question: Answer: 

1.  Can we add an appendix to include 
additional support materials and 
samples? 

Yes, an Appendix may be added to include 
additional support materials and samples.  

2. Appendix C We are being asked to sign a form 
and include it in appendix C. 
However, under the submission 
requirements, there is no reference to 
including appendix C in our 
response. Where would you like us 
to include this form: Administrative 
Code 

Chapter 12X: Contractors in Certain 
States? Please clarify. 

The completed 12X form noted in 
Appendix C may be submitted on the 
required USB flash drive, as noted in the 
RFP, Section III-B. Format. 

3.  For optimal participation and 
engagement would you consider 25 
– 30 participants for training 
workshops vs. the 100 that is 
mentioned in the RFP? 

Yes, 100 is the stated maximum. 

4.  Based upon the training goal 
participation would you be open to 
consider more than one facilitator? 

Yes.  

5.  Is there any flexibility in having 
more than one facilitator in the 
program? 

Yes. 

6.  Can a formal audition process be 
considered for trainer selection? 

After the contract is awarded, the 
successful proposer could audition 
potential trainers, at no extra cost to 
Airport. 

7.  Are there training facilities available 
to accommodate 100 participants? 

Yes. 

8.  How many employees are you 
targeting for participation to 
complete training in year 1, 2, and 3? 
If you do not have a target, are you 
open to recommendations? 

As sessions are not required, there is no 
specific target number for participants. 
Yes, we are open to recommendations. 
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9.  For Computer Based Training (CBT) 
do you want the vendor to provide a 
learning script only per the request, 
or a HTML storyline learning 
interactions that is compatible with 
your current CBT platform? 

The former.  We only require that the 
vendor provide the learning script 
described in section II.6. of the RFP. 

  

10.  Do you have a current LMS platform 
to track completion of CBT? 

Yes, but the question is not relevant to this 
RFP.  The sole deliverable that could be 
categorized as “computer based training” 
under this RFP is the learning script 
described in section II.6. The learning 
script is meant to be promotional material 
regarding SFO’s guest experience culture 
that can be used by concessionaires, etc, 
during new employee orientation sessions 
or whenever deemed appropriate.  
However, the use of the learning script is 
not required. 

 
11.  Are you requiring 100% completion 

of CBT? If so what are the number 
of employees required to complete in 
Year 1, 2, 3? 

No.  See answer to question #10. 

12.  Are you open to consider a skill 
check assessment with the CBT? 

No.  See answer to question #10.  

13.  For the communication campaign 
and for mystery shop distribution, is 
there a current list of email addresses 
to reach the concessions, security, 
and aviation support services? If not, 
can SFO provide this updated list? 

Yes. 

 

14.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

For accountability, to build manager 
relationship and to boost awareness 
of training opportunities and action 
planning would you be open to 
individual consultations vs group 
consulting? 

Yes.  

15. Page 3 On page 3 regarding the mystery 
shopping, bottom of page, 4th bullet 
reads, “Provide data analysis and 
appropriate pre-determined rewards 
for bi-annual Above and Beyond 
rewards and recognition program 

Yes, within our current program, a $100 
gift card is issued to the individual who 
scores a perfect mystery shop score of 100. 
Based off of 5 categories, a glass plaque is 
displayed on 5 trophies with the name of 
the top company in each category, which is 
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based on overall mystery shops 
scores” do we provide gift cards for 
rewards? If so, what denomination 
and would we bill back or is this to 
be included in our pricing? 

updated twice a year. The cost of gift cards 
or other rewards should be included in 
your contract pricing. 

16.  What is the total # of badged 
employees by category? Can you 
provide a list of all category groups 
that you plan to mystery shop and # 
of employees for each? 

There are approximately 1,700 aviation 
support services employees, 2,750 
concession employees, and 1,400 security 
employees for whom the Airport seeks 
mystery shopping services. 
 
 

17.  Are you open to suggested frequency 
and volume of mystery shopping? 

Yes. 

 

18.  What departments/organizations are 
comprised of airport and non-airport 
commission employees and how 
many employees per department? 

The Airport seeks guest services training 
for the following categories of employees 
(approximate number of employees for 
each category stated in parenthetical): 
commission employees (1800), aviation 
support services employees (2,200), 
security employees (1,400), and 
concession employees (2,750).  
 
See response to question #16 for the 
categories and approximate number of 
employees for whom the Airport seeks 
mystery shopping services. 
 

19.  Can you please provide a list of job 
titles and number of employees that 
fall under the following two 
categories - security and aviation 
support services? 

The “security” category encompasses the 
employees of Covenant Aviation, the TSA 
subcontractor at SFO. Covenant has 
approximately 1,400 employees providing 
security at the Airport.  The “aviation 
support services” category includes 
employees of contractors who provide 
guest services at the Airport, such as 
wheelchair providers and porters.  There 
are 2,200 aviation support services 
employees. 
 

20.  Who and what 
departments/organizations currently 
serve on the guest experience team? 
Guest Experience Council? 

The Guest Experience Council does not 
currently exist.  It will need to be created 
and implemented by the successful 
proposer with the assistance of the Airport.  
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21.  How many entities throughout the 
airport do you envision being 
represented on the task force? 

Among the entities that should be 
represented on the task force are 
concessionaires, contractors who provide 
services to guests (e.g. wheelchair 
providers), security providers, and SFO’s 
Revenue Development and Management 
(RDM) division.  The Airport anticipates 
that the task force will consist of 
approximately 10-12 members. 
 

22.  How many participants would be 
included in the guest experience 
council? Who do you envision 
would participate on the council? 

6 to 8 participants.  The Airport envisions 
that the Guest Experience Council will 
consist of Guest experience professionals 
from the Airport’s Guest Services division, 
from its concessionaires and guest services 
providers, as well as from businesses 
within the Airport vicinity, such as Airport 
area hotels.   
 

23.  Are you open to recommendations 
for additional related services or 
innovation outside the scope of 
work? 

Yes. 

24.  Are we required to have 
subcontractors if the prime is 
capable of performing all of the 
work required in the scope? If no, 
would we be exempt from the LBE 
requirement? 

The 5% LBE subcontracting goal for this 
contract applies regardless of whether the 
prime contractor can perform all of the 
work required. 
 
For further information regarding the LBE 
subcontracting goal, see replacement 
language for section VI.N. of the RFP 
(“Local Business Enterprise Goals and 
Outreach”), included in this Addendum, 
supra. 
 

25.  What is considered prime level of 
work for an LBE subcontractor? 

An LBE subcontractor is not required to be 
assigned prime level work.  
 
For further information regarding the LBE 
subcontractor requirements, see 
replacement language for section VI.N. of 
the RFP (“Local Business Enterprise Goals 
and Outreach”), included in this 
Addendum, supra. 
 

26.  Will training be mandated for all 
airlines, concessions and service 
providers? 

No. 
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27.  Is the Task force currently 
organized? 

No, the successful proposer will work with 
the Airport in creating the Task Force. 

28.  How many Mystery Shops will be 
required quarterly? 

This number varies and may change 
quarterly. We are currently conducting 
approximately 350 shops per quarter.  

29.  Will Marketing, branding or 
incentives be paid for under this 
contract or facilitated Airport? 

Paid for under this contract. 

30.  Will City/County be responsible for 
bi-lingual or reasonable 
accommodation cost? 

No, this is not applicable to this RFP.  

31.  As of now you have 15 total 
different classes that you are 
offering, are you looking for these 
classes to be replicated or are you 
looking for some new variations of 
the 15 or are you looking for an add 
on?  What are you looking for? 

The Airport anticipates that proposals will 
contain a minimum of 4-5 different class 
offerings.  The classes proposed may cover 
the same subject area as current classes, 
but must use a fresh approach.  Proposed 
classes should not replicate current class 
offerings.   
 

32.  Are you looking for a minimum of 
15 class offering? 

No.  The Airport anticipates that proposals 
will contain a minimum of 4-5 different 
class offerings. 
 

33.  Is there a minimum class number? The Airport anticipates that proposals will 
contain a minimum of 4-5 different class 
offerings. 
 
To the extent this question is seeking 
information about minimum class size, the 
minimum class size is 5 participants.  

 
  

 

 

 

 

 


